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The construction of "Main Building" of Arkansas Baptist College was begun in 1893.
Original plans called for a four-storey brick building with a cross-gable roof;
hoewever, the plans were altered during construction, resulting in the present
structure. As completed around the turn of the century, Main Building consists of
a full basement of rough-faced cut-stone supportlng a two-storey ’ brick facade "

‘building with a mansard roof of slate.

A college catalogue published in 1910 describes Main Building as follows:

The main building has a stone basement, two stories of brick
and a mansard roof covered with slate. This is practically a
four-storey building, 50 x 100 feet, It serves as a girls’' dor-
mitoxy, chapel, office rooms, dining room and kitchen. It is de-
signed as a central building, so that the addition of wings will
double its present capacity for all the foregoing purposes.

Though the building's use has changed slightly, and the proposed wings were never
added, the general description of the structure remains accurate. Buil: of red
brick with a tall bell towexr and mansard rxoof, Main Hall typified college build-
ings in late nineteenth-~ceniunry Arkansas.

Rbout 1965 the square bell tower, which early dominadted the roofline of the build-
ing, was removed. Other roofline features which have been removed {date unknewn)
include the six tall chimney stacks which originally rose from the noxth and scuth
side of the mansaxd roof.

All windows on the north, west and south elevations have lintels and lugsills of
rough-faced cut stone. The windows on the east elevation have arched heads cut
from one piece of stone. Projecting from the slate xoof are gable dormers, each
containing a window set in plain wood framing.

Separating the stone basement and first storey of brick is a water table of cut
stone. A simple brick stringecourse divides the first and second stories of the
building. Beneath the mansard roof, the building is surrounded by a simple cox-
nice and undecorated frieze.

Both the north and south elevations have eight bays, séven of which feature single
double-hung windows on each storey and in the dormers. The two entranceés to the
building are located on these elevations, each on the second bay from the east.
Thase entry bays feature paired windows set into the dormers, second-storey key—
stone arches, and double doors with transoms opening onto the first storey.

Sm: 11l flat~roofed porches with delicate Victorian trim originally covered th2 two
entrances. The trim has been removed from these porches, and original divideqd
wooden stairways have heen replaced with wide cast-stone steps leading directly
to the entries. In addition, a small enclosed foyer has been added at the north

entry.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

. Constructed at the close of the nineteenth century, "Main Building”™ at Arkansas

Baptist College is significantin several areas of Arkansas history.

Architec~

turally, it is typical of the red-brick, mansard-roof structures built on

Arkansas college campuses in the late nineteenth century.

The building dates

among the oldest facilities for higher education still standing in the state.
Built by Baptists, Main Building illustrates the important historic role of

religious groups in furthering education in Arkansas.

However, most importantly,

Main Building represents an important aspect of Negro history in Arkansas.

arkansas Baptist College origirated in 1884 at the annual meeting of the Negro

Baptist Convention of Arkansas.

At their convention in Hot Springs this group

voted to establish a school for the training of WNegro ministers and teachers.
In November, 1884 the first classes were held in the facilities of Mount Zion

Baptist Church in Little Rock.

Ironically, the first teacher—-administrator

hired to operate the school was a white minister, the Reverend J. P. Lawton of
Joplin, Missouri.

Operating for a short time as "The Baptist Institute," the school was incorpor-
ated as "Arkansas Baptist College™ in 1885.
tinually operated under the leadership of Negro administrators.
nineteenth century, Arkansas blacks considered Arkansas Baptist College to be
the state's only Negro college which was completely free from white influence.

Since that time it has been con-
In the late

After operating the school in various Little Rock churches, the board of trustees

voted to purchase land on which to permanently locate the school.

For $5,000.00

a Little Rock city block at the corner of 16th and High Streets was purchased.
Several frame structures were built, but in March, 1893, a fire destroyed the

central building.
begun on a replacement for the school's first administration building.

Within a very short time plans were drawn and construction

The

result was Main Building, the college's first brick structure, and -Arkansas’
oldest Negro college building,

Main Hall was originally designed as a four-storey structure with a cross-gable
Contempory accounts in the Baptist Vangvard, a weekly newspaper published
by the trustees of the college and edited by the school's president, indicate

Yoof.

that financial difficulties forced modification of the original plans.

As com—

pleted about the turn of the century, Main Building is a two-storey, brick
structure with a full bascment of rough-faced cut stone and a mansar@ roof of

slate.
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For several years following 1893, the Baptist Vanguard@ records a number of f£fi~
nancial appeals for the construction of Main Building. On the first Sunday in
Octcber, 1893, the morning collection in.each church affiliated with the con~
vention was to be used to help finance construction of the building. With the
announcement that the cornerstone was to be laid on November 2, 1893, the
Vanguard reported that, "It is expected to be the grandest occasion that ever
happened among the colored people of Little Rock, and the state of Arkansas."”

In Feburary, 1894, the Vanguard announced that the "Sister's Association to

Work for Arkansas Baptist College" had been established. This organization of
Baptist women was formed to raise money for the school. On March 11, 1897, an
appeal for funds was accompanied by a sketch of the building as completed to that
date, consisting of the full stone basement and one brick storey above. The
publicity and numerous advertisements in the Vanguard helped achieve the eventual
completion of Main Building.

(h In addition to their property in central Little Rock, the school also owned a
farm across the river near North Little Rock. This 100-acre farm, purchased
through a financial gift from Miss Helen Griggs of Chicago, was used to provide
agricultural training for the students. Somewhat like "Booker T. Washington's
Tuskegee Institute, Arkansas Baptist College emphasized agricultural and indus-
trial training for its non-ministerial students. Nevertheless, the primary aim .
of the school has always been to provide training for young Negro ministers
and teachers. ‘

The man most responsible for the early success of Arkansas Baptist College was -
the Reverend Joseph A,Booker, who served as president from 1887 until his death
in 1926. When President Booker began his career at Arkansas Baptist College,
the school had only 30 students, held classes in churxch rooms and rented lodge
halls, and had only one teachex besides Booker himself. By 1910, over 400
students were enrolled, the school had acquired land and buildings valued at
more than $75,000.00, and there were fifteen faculty members on the payroll.
President Bocker's work at Arkansas Baptist College made him one of the states’

most influential Wegro educators. » -

In 1859 Joseph A. Bocker was born to slave parents in Ashley County, Arkansas.
He was educated in the county's rural schools, and in 1878 entered the Branch
Normal College at Pine Bluff, Arkansas. Three years later Booker began studying
at the Nashville fTennessee)Institute, and in 1886 earned a Bachelor of Arts
degree. In later years he was awarded honorary doctorate degrees from State

(‘h University at Louisville, Kentucky, (1901).and Shaw University, Raleigh, North

Carclina, (1902).
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After becoming president of Arkansas Baptist College in 1887, Joseph Bocker

quickly became a.leader among Arkansas' Negro population. In January, 1891,
he was one of the principal speakers at a rally against passage of Arkansas’
first "Jim Crow" law, reguiring separate but equal railroad coaches and depot
waiting rooms for the black and white. populations. However, Booker's pro-
posal that first and second class railroad service be instituted was rejected,
and the Tillman bill, reguiring racial segregation on Arkansas railroad

facilities, became law.

Though Booker failed in his fight against racial segregation in Arkansas, he
won an important place in history of Arkansas education. In 1910 the Southern
author G. P. EBamilton described Booker %s ¥ . ..the most influential educator '~
of the race in the State of Arkansas." Having been constructed under the
leadership of Dr. Booker, Main Building is an appropriate landmark to be

associated with this important Negro leader.

Main Building at Arkansas Baptist College is one of the most significant
structures assocliated with Negro history in Arkansas. In addition its con-—
tinual use as an educational institution, its close association with Dr. Joseph
Booker and its mansard-roof architectural style further enhance the historic

significance of Main Building.

! Arkansas' other historic educational structures include Arkansas College in
Batesville and 014 Main at the University of Arkansas in Fayetteville, both of
which are listed on the National Register, and Main Hall at Central Baptist
College in Conway, recently nominated to the National Register.

Baptist Vangu:rd, Octobexr 20, 1893, p. 1.

3 G. P. Hamilton, Beacon Lights of the Race {(Memphis: F. H. Clarke and Brother,
1911).
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